O©CoOoO~NO O WDN P

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes

August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

TOWN OF EPSOM
ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING
Epsom Central School, Epsom, New Hampshire
August 30, 2023, 7:00 PM

PRESENT

Ryan Kehoe, Vice Chair

Alan Quimby, Member

Lisa Thorne, Member

Prescott Towle, Alternate Member
Andrew Ramsdell, Alternate Member
Jason Johnson, Alternate Member

ALSO PRESENT

Keriann Roman, Esq., Town Counsel 30 Mike Keeler, resident
Jennifer Riel, Recording Secretary 31 Chris Pepin, resident
Virginia Drew, Board of Selectman 32 Shane Bowen, resident
Representative 33 Anne Milligan, resident
Chery Gilpatrick, resident 34 Bill Achesson, resident
Steven Rhoades, resident 35 Lisa Achesson, resident
Patricia Rhoades, resident 36 Karen Keeler, resident
David Goulet, resident 37 Justin Cloutier, resident
Karen Goulet, resident 38 Leon Cloutier, resident
John Bisson, Esqg. 39 Dana Gilbert, resident
Rob Topik, resident 40 Andrew Gilbert, resident
Justin Guth, Code Enforcement Officer 41 Sean Heichlinger, resident
Joe Wysocki, resident 42 Zachary Heichlinger, resident
Meadow Wysocki, resident 43 David Killian, resident

CALL TO ORDER
Vice Chair Kehoe called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM.

Introductions were made of the Board members present. Vice Chair Kehoe asked Mr. Johnson

and Mr. Ramsdell to sit on the Board as full members for this meeting.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Meeting of August 16, 2023 — Edits were made.

MOTION: To approve the minutes as amended. Motion by Mr. Towle. Second by Ms.

Thorne. Motion passed, 6-0-0.

PUBLIC HEARING — Case 2023-06 Topik — Administrative Appeal Rehearing — Steven and
Patricia Rhoades have been granted a rehearing of the Zoning Board’s Administrative Appeal
decision overturning the Planning Board’s May 10, 2023 decision that a proposed Federal
Firearms Licensed gun and sporting goods business was permitted as a home occupation in the

Page 1 of 12



61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

Residential/Agricultural Zone in accordance with the Epsom Zoning Ordinances. The subject
property is located on Lena Lane within the Residential/Agricultural Zone and is identified on
Epsom Tax Map RO1 as Lot 30-26.

Vice Chair Kehoe read the public notice into the record. It was confirmed the public notice was
published in The Concord Monitor, and posted at the Town Offices and the Post Office; certified
letters were sent to abutters and all receipts were returned.

Vice Chair Kehoe explained the issue of standing for this case and stated an abutter needs to
present this case, which Mr. Topik is not an abutter by definition contained in the ordinance.

Town Counsel explained the issue of standing raised by Mr. Bisson as to whether Mr. Topik has
standing per the ordinance; she stated the Board can proceed with hearing the appeal David Goulet
has standing per the ordinance and could present the appeal. She stated if Mr. Goulet is not
comfortable, the Board will need to determine if they want to allow Mr. Topik to present. Mr.
Goulet stated he was unaware of this and would like to delay this hearing.

Mr. Topik requested a point of order. Vice Chair Kehoe granted the request. Mr. Topik questioned
if the Board has the appropriate information to make a determination on standing. Vice Chair
Kehoe stated evidence has been presented from both sides and there is adequate evidence to vote
on whether there is standing. He explained that if standing is not granted, the case is over. Mr.
Goulet stated if he is going to have to present the case, he is not prepared to present tonight and
requested a delay. Town Counsel suggested having the standing discussion, make a determination,
and then a decision can be made whether there will be a continuation.

Mr. Topik stated numerous people were able to speak at the last public hearing. Town Counsel
explained this is different than done previously as the Rhoades raised the issue of standing and it
has to be dealt with now because the concern has been raised; she clarified Mr. Topik could speak
in the public hearing but officially, the case has to be presented by an individual who meets the
criteria of per the ordinance. Town Counsel stated Mr. Topik addressed standing in his filings, so
he was aware of this issue. She reiterated her recommendation that the Board vote to determine if
Mr. Topik has standing per the ordinance.

John Bisson, Esq., representative for the Rhoades, stated the only person named in the appeal and
who has standing is David Goulet, who indicated he is not prepared to proceed. Vice Chair Kehoe
stated relative time for standing was made at the time the application was made and has to be filed
within a certain period of time; at the time the application for appeal was filed, the person who
filed it must have standing. Mr. Bisson stated Mr. Goulet was added after the time of the appeal.

Mr. Goulet stated we are here because the Zoning Board of Adjustment made a decision on the
case already. Vice Chair Kehoe clarified that the decision is null and void at this point; the purpose
of this rehearing is to determine if the home business is permitted. Mr. Goulet asked if there were
errors in standing at the previous case. It was clarified it doesn’t matter at this point and that case
has no bearing on this case.

Page 2 of 12



106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

Vice Chair Kehoe read the four items for criteria for standing per the ordinance: Four factors are
considered when determining whether a non-abutter has sufficient interest to confer standing: (1)
the proximity of the appealing party’s property to the property for which approval is sought; (2)
the type of change being proposed; (3) the immediacy of the injury claimed; and (4) the appealing
party’s participation in the administrative process.

Vice Chair Kehoe granted Mr. Goulet and Mr. Topik’s request to have a recess to discuss their
options.

Vice Chair Kehoe swore in all present to speak.

Mr. Topik stated he doesn’t want to present the appeal on behalf of Mr. Goulet if it is going to
waive his right to contest the standing issue. Town Counsel explained if Mr. Goulet signs over his
authorization for Mr. Topik to speak on his behalf, any decision will be made on Mr. Goulet’s
appeal. Mr. Topik stated he wouldn’t present the case as he doesn’t want to waive any of his rights;
he stated he didn’t have any notice this issue of standing is on the table. Vice Chair Kehoe stated
a decision on standing is made by the Board based on the evidence presented and Mr. Topik can
speak. Town Counsel stated if Mr. Topik is allowed to speak, the Rhoades will also have the
opportunity to speak.

Mr. Johnson explained that if the Board does not find Mr. Topik to have standing, Mr. Goulet
could still have the option to speak or request to continue. Town Counsel explained the continuance
would need to be heard in a timely manner. Vice Chair Kehoe asked Mr. Bisson if the Rhoades
wanted to continue. Mr. Bisson stated he doesn’t understand why this public hearing is being
allowed to go forward at this point. Mr. Bisson stated he doesn’t know what he is consenting to.
Vice Chair Kehoe explained the Board still needs to determine if Mr. Topik has standing and he
is asking Mr. Bisson if they would be willing to continue if standing is not found.

Vice Chair Kehoe clarified that firearms must treated as any other legal items in the state, per RSA
Chapter 159:26, Title XII Public Safety and Welfare: I. To the extent consistent with federal law,
the state of New Hampshire shall have authority and jurisdiction over the sale, purchase,
ownership, use, possession, transportation, licensing, permitting, taxation, or other matter
pertaining to firearms, firearms components, ammunition, firearms supplies, or knives in the state.
Except as otherwise specifically provided by statute, no ordinance or regulation of a political
subdivision may regulate the sale, purchase, ownership, use, possession, transportation, licensing,
permitting, taxation, or other matter pertaining to firearms, firearms components, ammunition, or
firearms supplies in the state. Nothing in this section shall be construed as affecting a political
subdivision's right to adopt zoning ordinances for the purpose of regulating firearms or knives
businesses in the same manner as other businesses or to take any action allowed under RSA
207:59. 11. Upon the effective date of this section, all municipal ordinances and regulations not
authorized under paragraph | relative to the sale, purchase, ownership, use, possession,
transportation, licensing, permitting, taxation, or other matter pertaining to firearms, firearm
components, ammunition, firearms supplies, or knives shall be null and void.

The Board reviewed the criteria and discussed whether Mr. Topik would have standing per the
ordinance.

Page 3 of 12



152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

e Proximity of the appealing party’s property for which approval is sought: The Board
agreed Mr. Topik’s residence property is not in the cul-de-sac but he does own property in
the neighborhood so there is some proximity.

e The type of change being proposed: The Board agreed that the proposed changes are for
an in-home business; there won’t be any external impact on the neighborhood.

e The immediacy of the injury claimed: The Board agreed there is no personal injury to Mr.
Topik as it is a legal home occupation, regardless of the product and the character of the
neighborhood is not going to be changed.

e The appealing party’s participation in the administrative process: The Board agreed Mr.
Topik has been involved throughout this process.

Mr. Bisson stated the reason abutters have protected status is because they are right there and could
be directly impacted; he stated that is the point of standing. Mr. Bisson stated he doesn’t know the
exact distance Mr. Topik is from the Rhoades and proximity is not clearly defined in the ordinance.
Mr. Bisson stated the standard for standing is not extended to all persons in the community who
might feel they are hurt by a Board’s decision pertaining to land remote to them; he stated they
can come and participate but they cannot appeal and affect the neighbors’ rights. Mr. Bisson stated
Mr. Topik’s statements indicated he is concerned about people with guns, and he is worried about
any decision by the Board being de-facto ordinance change and affecting the whole town. Mr.
Bisson stated this is about guns and not any other business; he stated it is about property rights for
the Rhoades. He stated the Town’s ordinance allows home business and reiterated that Mr. Topik
does not have standing. Vice Chair Kehoe asked how far Mr. Topik is from the Rhoades property.
It was agreed Mr. Topik is in the same neighborhood; the Board agreed it is not “quite remote” as
suggested by Mr. Bisson. The Board agreed Mr. Topik’s property is more than 200 feet from the
Rhoades. Ms. Thorne agreed there is proximity as what would be happening to an abutter would
be happening to Mr. Topik. Mr. Ramsdell stated the proximity is close. Mr. Johnson noted Mr.
Topik has two properties in the area although one is a vacant lot. The Board agreed a home
occupation is allowed but the appeal is on that. Mr. Johnson stated he doesn’t see any immediacy
of injury claimed as the increase in traffic is speculation.

MOTION: To find that Robert Topik has standing to present the case. Motion by Mr.
Ramsdell. Second Mr. Johnson. Motion 4-1-0. Mr. Quimby opposed.

Vice Chair Kehoe opened the public hearing at 8:03 PM.

Robert Topik, stated the Zoning Board is in the administrative position to decide whether the
definition of home occupation as proposed for a Federal Firearms Dealer business is permitted in
the ordinance. He stated the FFL license the Rhoades obtained, includes gun sales,
manufacturing, and gunsmithing; but the occupation does not meet the criteria for a customary
home occupation. Mr. Topik stated there are one or two previously approved gun dealers in a
residence in Town but doesn’t believe that makes it customary and Mr. Rhoade’s business is not
necessary to protect the Second Amendment. He stated the home occupation has to be an
accessory use to a residence. He stated a real estate business is different as sales are not in the
home; gun sales are being proposed by Internet sales as well as at trade shows which are outside
sales so its not a profession but a business. Mr. Topik stated home businesses have to have a

Page 4 of 12



198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

similar scope and impact as other businesses but that doesn’t transform a use that doesn’t meet
the rest of the definition; he stated the purpose of zoning ordinances is to establish different
zones for different uses. He stated the purpose is not to fill up residential zones with home
occupations; he stated people buy in to a residential neighborhood with the expectation that the
area would remain so; he stated when business use is mixed in it presents the occasion for
controversy and development should be harmonious.

Vice Chair Kehoe read the Home Occupation ordinance into the record:

K. Home Occupations.
1. Residences may be used to house home occupations as defined under this Ordinance. It is
the purpose and intent of this Ordinance to maintain the non-commercial character of the
Residential/Agricultural Zone while permitting secondary business uses by a resident
proprietor.
2. Home occupation shall mean such use which is not the primary use, but is secondary,
accessory, and incidental to that of a residential dwelling, and
a. No more than two (2) persons may be employed or occupied in furtherance of the
occupation or business at any one (1) location at any given time, excluding the one (1)
resident proprietor.
b. Reasonably adequate lighting, parking and means of access and egress shall be provided
to accommodate the particular type of operation.
c. Hours of operation shall be limited to no earlier than 8:00 a.m. and not later than 8:00
p.m., unless otherwise permitted by the Planning Board, no excessive noise, odors and smoke
may be emitted so as to disturb the residential character of the surrounding area.
3. Consistent with this Ordinance, the resident proprietor may park one (1) vehicle and store
tools and equipment necessary to perform an off-site service occupation, provided that the
resident proprietor is regularly engaged in the occupation and further provided that the tools
and equipment are stored indoors or in an operational, registered, and inspected vehicle and
such use does not alter the character of the use as that of a residential dwelling.
4. A Non-Residential Site Plan Review shall be required to operate a home occupation. The
applicant shall apply to the Planning Board which may grant or deny approval pursuant to
the Town of Epsom Site Plan Regulations.

Vice Chair Kehoe opened the hearing to input from Rhoades.

Mr. Bisson stated the Board is quasi-judicial and has an obligation to be impartial and not
prejudiced. He stated the main concern by Mr. Topik is about gun sales; he stated the Rhoades
previously went through the proper process with the Planning Board to begin a home business.
He referenced the Planning Board public hearing minutes of May 10, 2023, and stated the Board
felt that with the evidence presented, the Site Plan was appropriate and approved. Mr. Bisson
stated per the ordinance, a secondary business is permitted and there can by buyers and sellers
going to a home, with delivery trucks coming and going, which would be allowed if it were a
real estate, attorney, etc., or other profession. He stated the issue of traffic is a red herring as
what Mr. Topik suggested, is not what is happening at this property; he stated the work being
proposed is secondary use to the Rhoades living there. He stated the Rhoades will not be selling
products at the home; the sale aspect is Internet sales and Mr. Topik is suggesting the customary
language somehow prevents what is being proposed. He stated when the ordinance was written,
it referenced dressmaking and there was no Internet. Mr. Bisson asked if the ordinance is stuck

Page 5 of 12



245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

with the exact professions originally used or whether Internet sales are not customary. He
reiterated there is no retail establishment; there is not going to be a pile of guns for customers to
buy.

Vice Chair Kehoe asked Mr. Rhoades to explain the specifics of how the business will operate.
Mr. Bisson stated those details were covered in the public hearing with the Planning Board, and
the decision was granted with conditions:
e Customer pickup/delivery of firearms may occur only by appointment, Monday through
Friday, 9:00 AM to 3:00 PM.
e  Only one customer pick-up may be scheduled per week.
Customer Firearms cannot be loaded at any time during the transfer.

No discharging of customers’ weapons on the property except in the case of self-
defense.

The Epsom Police Department shall perform all necessary inspections.

No business signage is permitted on-site.

No firearms packages may be delivered on-site without the recipient’s signature.
The manufacture or sale of ammunition is prohibited.

Mr. Rhoades stated the nature of the business is to sell firearms via a website; even at a gun
show, a sale would go through the business website. He stated for any firearm purchased online,
some manufacturers have conditions that the guns must be direct shipped to the selling FFL
dealer and then goes to the customer. Mr. Quimby asked which manufacturers have those
restrictions. Mr. Rhoades stated he does not know as they have been blocked from any business
at this time. He stated they would not be handling private party sales. Vice Chair Kehoe asked
how they would limit sales to one per week. Mr. Rhoades stated in most cases, guns will be
purchased from the website and a national warehouse will directly ship the item to an assigned
FFL dealer of the purchaser’s choice; he stated any items which are shipped directly to them as
the FFL seller/dealer will be turned over to the purchaser the following day. Mr. Rhoades stated
they will explain the conditions to customers which limit how many transfers they can do and
then assist the customer with the transfer through another dealer. Ms. Rhoades stated their FFL is
only listed through the Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms (ATF); if someone purchases a firearm
online, they will choose the FFL dealer to handle the transfer, and more than likely they will
choose other dealers due to the day and time limitations which were placed on them by the
Planning Board.

Mr. Johnson asked if they would be making firearms or customizing firearms. Mr. Rhoades
stated if a customer orders something to be customized, they will have the item on the premise
for the least amount of time possible to make the modifications such as coating and finishing. He
stated they would also be able to change out triggers and do basic gunsmithing on only new
items; they will not be accepting any used firearms; he stated this also limits any traffic. Mr.
Rhoades stated in the months they have had the FFL, they have not had any requests for
transfers; he stated they are not advertising their services. He stated they don’t want excessive
traffic to their residence and prefers there is none but they are required by ATF to have
availability even if it is limited; he stated Fedex and UPS are in their neighborhood daily. Mr.
Rhoades suggested that to argue there would be an increase in traffic is baseless.

Page 6 of 12



290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

Mr. Rhoades stated as far as manufacturing is concerned, per the ATF guidelines, if a light is
mounted, that falls under that classification and explained any alternation to a firearm is done
under the scope of gunsmithing.

Vice Chair Kehoe asked if there was a reason that they would want to do pickups once a week
and asked if that could be removed. Mr. Rhoades stated they are required by the ATF to be
available for transfers; he explained the procedure of a transfer and stated if he doesn’t like
someone’s demeanor or words, he can stop the transaction immediately and he is not legally
obligated to complete a transfer just because someone requests it.

Mr. Ramsdell asked for an explanation of the inventory on the property. Mr. Rhoades stated the
inventory will be the actual firearms; there could be multiple lights but that should not be a
concern. He stated the firearms would only be on a per-order basis. Mr. Ramsdell summarized
the sales process as the customer purchases the item online; the item is directly shipped to the
consumer or an FFL dealer. Mr. Rhoades stated a purchaser will complete a form to have the
FFL dealer perform the background checks and then proceed with determining if the transfer will
be completed. Mr. Ramsdell asked what the outside scope of the business would be; he stated if
they were doing trade shows, the inventory would be leaving the property and then returned to
the property. Mr. Rhoades confirmed that this is correct, but the inventory is minimal. Ms.
Rhoades stated the items may be one or two customized firearms, but they still need to learn the
process; she stated any products the customer wants to purchase, will be directed through the
Internet website; she explained they will be using dummy guns for the future creation of holsters.
Mr. Rhoades confirmed the functional firearms would be stored in a locked and secured safe at
all times. Ms. Rhoades stated there will be an alarm system and cameras installed at the property.
Mr. Rhoades explained their FFL dealer status is not easily found on the Internet and one needs
to know specifically how to search.

Mr. Bisson stated the business is about a home occupation and it is not about firearms; he stated
everything said by the Rhoades indicates they are safe gun owners; the occupation is customary,
and the case 1s about real estate rights and home occupation. Mr. Rhoades stated they did a
Google Maps search and found home occupations throughout Town; he presented a large list of
home occupations which they confirmed are on residential or agricultural zoned properties. Ms.
Rhoades stated there are numerous full-blown businesses operating in residential zones; they are
being restricted from operating an in-home business which won’t affect anyone in their
neighborhood. Ms. Rhoades stated two of the businesses are licensed and registered FFL dealers.

Vice Chair Kehoe reiterated this case is not about guns but rather it is about a home occupation.
He asked if anyone on the current Board had heard a case for a home occupation. Mr. Johnson
noted the only time the ZBA would review a case for home occupation would be on an appeal
from the Planning Board.

Vice Chair Kehoe opened the hearing to input from abutters.

David Goulet, abutter, reread the ordinance glossary definition of home occupation. He stated the
definition is clear that there is nothing about a home occupation; he stated perhaps the ordinance

Page 7 of 12



336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

needs to be updated to the current times and referenced the retail sales ordinance which indicates
retail sales and business are not permitted in the residential zone. Mr. Goulet stated he is
concerned the Planning Board had recommendations but how is going to know whether the
conditions are going to be followed and confirmed the days and hours will be adhered to. Vice
Chair Kehoe stated if there were a violation, a resident would need to raise a concern to the
Zoning Compliance Officer.

Mr. Rhoades asked Town Counsel for an explanation regarding the manufacturing and how
dressmaking is not considered manufactured as the dress is made on the property and then sold;
he stated if any compensation is received, it becomes retail. Ms. Rhoades explained they have to
keep logs of all transactions which could show compliance with the conditions.

Vice Chair Kehoe explained the role of the Board at this point is to determine whether this is a
home occupation. Ms. Rhoades stated the business is going to be run out of a home office, just as
any other home business, and the business is being done on the Internet; she reiterated the
business is secondary to living in the residence.

Vice Chair Kehoe opened the hearing to input from the public.

David Killian, resident, resident on Spring Street, which is on the corner of Lena Lane, stated
there have not been any definite statements and the only thing that is definitive is the ordinance;
he stated if he wanted to open a chip and soda business in his home, he would need a variance.
He stated he is retired military and is not opposed to guns, but this is retail sales. Mr. Killian
stated the FFL also talks about manufacturing and retail sales, which was not supposed to be
granted until there was Town approval.

Mike Keeler, resident of Spring Street, stated this is about whether this use is allowed in the
zone; he outlined points made in the appellant’s appeal including reference to customers and
hours of operation. He outlined the definition of “retail” per the Oxford Dictionary as well as the
definition of online retail, which is virtually the same. He stated retail is defined in the ordinance
and allowing this business is against the Town ordinance; he also explained the definition of the
zones. Mr. Keeler stated if there were ten FFL dealers operating in a neighborhood, it would
change the rural character. He stated nowhere in the ordinance is gun sales listed as a permitted
use.; if the Town wanted to include other occupations, different language would have be used to
indicate such. Mr. Keeler stated there is a huge difference between a dressmaker and a gun
dealer; he stated none of the allowed uses in the Residential/Agricultura Zone require a FFL. He
stated he did a search of FFL dealers in New Hampshire and the first eleven closest to Epsom,
are all located in commercial zones. Mr. Keeler stated Charlie Company Armory on Suncook
Valley Highway, is the same business as the Rhoades, and the Planning Board found it to be a
retail business at the Planning Board of May 24, 2023, and since it was in a commercial zone, no
Site Plan was required. Mr. Keeler stated property values would most certainly be reduced in the
neighborhood.

Ms. Rhoades stated Charlie Company Armory is not a fair comparison as it is clearly a retail

establishment with a storefront; she stated they will not have a storefront. Mr. Rhoades explained
the process of a firearm transfer; he stated it is similar to buying a car at a dealership, but the

Page 8 of 12



382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

validation of the transfer takes place with the Town Clerk. He stated all that they will be doing is
verifying the sale and it is a service. The sale takes place online. Mr. Rhoades stated the service
fee collected by the Town or State is not a retail sale, but it is for the service of validating the
sale. Ms. Rhoades stated the firearm purchase is not taking place during the transfer; it has
already taken place. Mr. Rhoades stated anyone here in Epsom can go online to purchase an item
and stated it can’t be claimed as a local sale.

Vice Chair Kehoe opened the hearing to anyone in favor of the appeal. None were indicated.
Vice Chair Kehoe opened the hearing to anyone opposed to the appeal.

Chris Pepin, resident, stated there was an FFL dealer in his community until he passed away last
week and the gentleman was a pillar of the community. He stated he can think of numerous
businesses that are in neighborhoods where people are earning an honest living and today, people
work from home now. Mr. Pepin stated there is a business in every neighborhood in this
community; he stated there are numerous FFL dealers who are operating out of their homes.

Joe Wysocki, resident, stated that post-covid, more people are working from home than ever
before and there are going to be problems if they try to follow the exact language of the
ordinances. He stated the Rhoades have gone through all the proper processes and should be
commended.

Justin Guth, Code Enforcement Officer, stated of all the conditions imposed by the Town, this
will not be one that is difficult to enforce; he explained the details records required by ATF and
if more than one transaction was done and there was a formal complaint, he would be able to
investigate it.

Mr. Topik stated there isn’t a dog or toll on Lena Lane to sniff out firearms so how are they
going to know if conditions are being violated. He stated this is not a variance or special
exception hearing. He asked if the previously supplied written testimony, would remain as part
of this record. Vice Chair Kehoe stated anything in the previous case does not transfer and has no
bearing in this current hearing. Mr. Topik stated the record is not complete and the documents
from Case 2023-06 should still be part of the record. Mr. Ramsdell reiterated any decision
tonight is based on information presented tonight.

Mr. Topik stated tonight this hearing is just about guns because that is what is not expressly
permitted in the ordinance or allowed as an accessory use. An accessory use must be occasioned
by the primary use, and while gun ownership is occasioned by home ownership, gun sales are
not. He stated the only reason real estate is allowed a home business is because it is specifically
listed. He stated no business permit has been issued as indicated on the FFL application; he
stated Dusty Arms is listed on the FFL Scope website and he believes that presents an increased
risk with inviting strangers to the neighborhood. He stated the FFL license allows for
manufacturing and there has been no indication what types of items they will manufacture which
could be high-powered assault rifles and there is no limit from the ATF what they can do with
that license.

Page 9 of 12



428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

Town Counsel clarified the application for appeal, which is part of the record, and anything
submitted previously is part of the record, but the testimony at a prior hearing, is not.

Ms. Rhoades stated they have a State license issued by Police Chief Michaels. Mr. Rhoads stated
the Planning Board approved the business; the ATF could not issue a license until there was
verification from the Town for approval, so they did not do anything wrong. He explained the
pistol permit was issued only after Chief Michaels verified with the Town that everything was
approved. Mr. Rhoades confirmed assault rifles are illegal to process in this country without a
special license.

Mr. Guth stated he has confirmed with AFT and State Police that the Rhoades have done
everything to follow the proper permitting and license process.

MOTION: To close the public hearing. Mr. Ramsdell. Second by Mr. Quimby. Motion
passed 5-0-0.

The Board took a five-minute recess at 9:45 PM.

The Board took a five-minute non-meeting to consult with Town Counsel.
Vice Chair Kehoe called the meeting back to order at 9:56 PM.

Vice Chair Kehoe stated the main focus of this administrative appeal is to determine if this is a
home occupation. He stated the ordinance does not provide a definitive list and its unreasonable
that it could be exhaustive; he stated they have to look at whether this is a customary occupation
similar to those listed. Mr. Ramsdell stated the first part doesn’t pertain to the Rhoades business;
it is clear the professional scope doesn’t fit but wants to focus on customary. He stated the Town
Counsel suggested the “stuck in time” piece of it and the word customary can be adapted to
today’s day and age; he stated that is where the focus of the discussion needs to be. Vice Chair
Kehoe stated dressmaking is an older term but there are still current uses, as is hairdressing, and
home daycare; with the exception of dressmaking, not much is antiquated. Mr. Quimby stated
the key to remember is a home occupation is allowed in any zone. Vice Chair Kehoe stated the
main goal is that the business needs to be able to be done in home. Mr. Quimby stated since
Covid, many people have started businesses in their homes. Mr. Ramdsell stated the examples in
the ordinance and the scope which includes traffic and demand on the neighborhood and pointed
out that a daycare is going to have a significantly higher traffic impact on a neighborhood. Ms.
Thorne questioned if Internet sales are considered modern-day customary home occupation. Mr.
Johnson stated he believes it is considered customary and the way the business is going to be
operated is similar to someone selling an Etsy product; he stated if the firearms component is
removed, it is very similar to other items sold on the Internet; he stated there isn’t going to be
storefront and people won’t be coming in to shop the items but there can be local pick up of
orders. Mr. Ramsdell stated the scope of what is transpiring out of the home for the service is
somewhat sporadic and limited. Mr. Quimby stated per the home occupation ordinance, it is the
purpose and intention to maintain the residential and agricultural feel without commercial
elements and to allow a home business; he stated there won’t be signs or a storefront and it
sounds like a usual home occupation. Mr. Ramdsell stated there was a reference previously to a

Page 10 of 12



474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
August 30, 2023 APPROVED 9-6-2023

similar home occupation and the testimony indicated there was not an impact on the
neighborhood. Vice Chair Kehoe stated using the examples presented, in comparison, an Internet
business is open 24/7 and asked if this is something that needs a variance even if it is a home
occupation. He questioned if this would set a precedent on the interpretation of the ordinance.
Mr. Johnson stated the ordinance calls out home occupations so people can have them; he stated
this business seems to have a lot of limits to the impact on the neighborhood due to the
conditions by the Planning Board. Mr. Ramsdell stated there would be limited inventory, the
sales would be directly shipped from manufacturers and there was testimony to indicate the
conditions can be enforced. He stated the business is different from the listed occupations which
will have people regularly coming to the residence. Mr. Quimby stated per the ordinance, this
business is secondary to residential use. Ms. Thorne stated the permitted professions are also
services which is the same as the proposal for the FFL dealer. Mr. Johnson stated there are two
service aspects including the gunsmithing and the FFL dealer transfer service. Vice Chair Kehoe
stated there is a service but it is finishing a sale transaction. He stated all the permitted businesses
are services.

MOTION: To affirm the Planning Board’s decision that the Rhoades’ business would be a
home occupation. Motion by Mr. Johnson. Second by Mr. Ramsdell. Motion 4-1-0. Vice
Chair Kehoe opposed.

Ms. Thorne stated the Rhoades have followed the proper business for establishing a business and
home occupation; they want to encourage that within the Town.

Findings of fact:

1. The business falls within the scope of what a home occupation is trying to achieve within

the spirit of the ordinance.

It won’t negatively impact the neighborhood in terms of traffic.

There is a limit of one customer per week to the property.

The majority of the business will take place on the Internet and is reasonable.

Based on the testimony of the Zoning Compliance Officer, the conditions of the Planning

Board are enforceable.

There will be limited inventory stored on the premises.

There will be limited sales out of the premises.

There will be limited manufacturing on the premises.

The business is considered a service.

0. Article K allows residents home occupations where the purpose of the ordinance to
maintain non-commercial character is upheld.

11. It is a secondary use to the property as a residence.

Nl

e R

Any person affected has the right to appeal this decision and/or conditions of the approval. The
first step in the appeal process is to apply to the board of adjustment for a rehearing. The motion
for a rehearing must set forth all the grounds on which you will base your appeal. You must
apply within a thirty (30) day period beginning with the next working day after the Zoning Board
of Adjustment meeting when the decision was made.

Page 11 of 12



520
521
522
523
524

525
526

Town of Epsom Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes

August 30, 2023

APPROVED 9-6-2023

ADJOURN: Motion by Mr. Johnson. Second by Mr. Ramsdell. Motion passed, 5-0-0.

The meeting was adjourned at 10:22 PM.

Respectfully Submitted,

ﬂ/m fer @ge/

Jennifer Riel, Recording Secretary

Page 12 of 12



